IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. SC03-1890

WILLIAM FREDERICK HAPP,
Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR CITRUS COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Carol C. Rodriguez Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 931720

Robert T. Strain Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 325961

Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Dr. Ste. 210 Tampa, Florida 33619-1136 (813) 740-3544

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 24, 1986, the partially clad body of a woman was found on the bank of the Cross-Florida Barge Canal in northwest Citrus County. The woman's shoulders were covered by a tee shirt pulled up to her underarms and a pair of stretch pants were tied tightly around her neck. She had been beaten and anally raped. The cause of death was strangulation. When last seen, the victim was driving from Ft. Lauderdale to Yankeetown to visit a friend on May 23, 1986. Her abandoned vehicle was found on May 25, 1986 in the rear parking lot of a restaurant on U.S. Highway 19. The window on the driver's side of the car had been shattered. Glass consistent with the glass from the car was found at the canal where the body was found and at the Cumberland Farms store in Crystal River where newspaper carriers saw a small car and heard a woman scream at approximately 2:40 A.M. on the morning of Saturday, May 24, 1986.

Happ's friend Vincent Ambrosino told law enforcement that Happ had been in his home on the night of the victim's abduction and sleeping during the time that the victim was abducted and murdered. At trial, he changed his testimony to agree with the State's theoretical timetable of events, and testified that he had last seen William Happ walking in the direction of the barge canal at around 11 PM on the evening of May 23, 1986. He testified that he had observed Mr. Happ's red and swollen hand, the following morning. Mr. Happ's former girlfriend testified that Happ had punched in a car window with his fist on a prior occasion. A State expert testified that a shoe print found outside the driver's side of the car was consistent with shoes worn by Mr. Happ. Expert testimony was also provided to establish that fingerprints matching Happ were found in two places on the exterior of the victim's car. Physical evidence (i.e., hair, fiber, and fingerprints) were found inside the vehicle but none that matched William Happ. No eyewitness testimony was provided to establish that Mr. Happ had ever made contact with the victim or was seen inside the victim's car.

Mr. William Happ was charged by indictment dated December 1, 1986, with first degree murder, burglary of a conveyance with the intent to commit a battery, kidnapping and sexual battery likely to cause serious personal injury. (R. -p. 1,2) He pled not guilty. (R. -p. 14)

The first trial was held on January 1989 and ended in a mistrial after the prosecutor violated a motion in limine prohibiting the State from revealing Mr. Happ's prior record. Mr. Happ was retried in July 1989 and found guilty of the charges on July 28, 1989. (R. 2489) On July 31, 1989 the jury recommended a sentence of death

by a vote of nine to three (R. 1380) and the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Lake County, entered the judgment of conviction and sentence under consideration. On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court ruled that Mr. Happ's jury was erroneously instructed on the aggravating factor of "cold, calculated and premeditated" because it did not apply in Mr. Happ's case, struck the aggravator but affirmed the On certiorari conviction and sentence. <u>Happ v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1992). to the United States Supreme Court, Mr. Happ's sentence was vacated and remanded because it found that the jury had been given an additional erroneous aggravating circumstance. The United States Supreme Court ruled that the "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" aggravator given in Mr. Happ's case was unconstitutionally vague in light of Espinosa v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992); Happ v. State, 113 S.Ct. 399 (1992). On remand, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed William Happ's convictions and sentence. Happ v.State, 618 So. 2d 205 (Fla. 1993).

On October 16, 1995 Mr. Happ filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence in accordance with Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850. (ROA.- Vol. I- p. 993) A hearing was held on July 29, 1996, in accordance with <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1992). An evidentiary hearing was conducted on February 20, 1997, on Claim III and the court entered an order denying Defendant's postconviction Motion. (ROA. - Vol. I - pp. 1112, 1113) The Defendant filed a motion for rehearing and motion for

leave to amend that was summarily denied on May 11, 1998. (ROA. -Vol. I - pp.

1228, 1233) Defendant then filed his notice of appeal on May 22, 1998. (ROA. - Vol. I - pp. 1237)

While pending appeal, Defendant filed a Motion to Relinquish Jurisdiction in the Florida Supreme Court and a Motion to Amend Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence in the Circuit Court on September 27, 1999. Oral argument was conducted in the Florida Supreme Court on October 5, 1999. (ROA. - Vol. I - p. 1284)

On October 7, 1999, the Florida Supreme Court denied Defendant's Motion to Relinquish Jurisdiction without prejudice to seek post-conviction relief in the trial court during the pendency of the appeal. (ROA. - Vol. I - p. 1285) Defendant's Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Request For Evidentiary Hearing was then filed on August 29, 2000. (ROA. - Vol. I - 1317)

On September 13, 2000, the Florida Supreme Court issued an order remanding Happ's case to the trial court on Mr. Happ's ineffective assistance of counsel claims concerning (1) counsel's alleged failure to investigate the origins of an unknown hair sample found on the victim; (2) counsel's alleged failure to investigate and present mitigating evidence during the penalty phase; (3) counsel's alleged failure to object or otherwise challenge the State's case and (4) appellant's claim that DNA testing will

demonstrate appellant's innocence. Mr. Happ's Judgment and Sentence was affirmed on all other issues and the court precluded re-arguing decided claims contained in the Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Request For Evidentiary Hearing. (ROA. - Vol. I - p. 1325)

A Second Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Request For Evidentiary Hearing was filed on November 8, 2000. (ROA.- Vol. I - pp. 1375,1376)

Prior to issuance of the Court's order on the 3.850 appeal dated September 13, 2000, Mr. Happ had also filed a Petition for Habeas Corpus and a Supplemental Petition for Habeas Corpus that was denied by Order of the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Happ v. Moore</u>, 784 So. 2d 1091 (May 3, 2001).

The trial court conducted a Huff Hearing on March 30, 2001, and the Court reviewed Defendant's 2nd Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Request For Evidentiary Hearing, the State's Responses and considered the Supreme Court's Order of September 13, 2000 in ruling.

The Defendant was granted an Evidentiary Hearing as to several portions contained in **Claim 1**, of the Amended 3.850 Motion dated August 29, 2000, and several portions contained within **Claim 4** and **Claim 18** in the 2nd Amended Motion of November 8, 2000.

On May 23, 2001, the court held a subsequent Huff hearing. The defendant withdrew request for evidentiary hearing as to Claim 4, paragraph 27and therefore a hearing was denied. The court reversed its prior ruling as to Claim 4, paragraph 28 and denied an evidentiary hearing as to this claim. The court also denied the defendant an evidentiary hearing on Claim 4, paragraphs 87, 97, and 106.

The Defendant's Second Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Request For Evidentiary Hearing filed on November 8, 2000 contained a paragraph #133 that was reserved but not ruled on by the trial court. Defense argued in the 2nd Amended 3.850 that trial counsel was deficient in failing to challenge the State's case based upon a "lack of connection between Mr. Happ and the murder". The trial court never ruled on this claim.

The Defendant's Motion To Produce and Release Evidence for Testing filed on October 24, 2002 was denied by order dated November 15, 2002. In denying the Motion the court stated that "the defense ha[d] propounded no new theories under which the court felt compelled to release the evidence for testing." The Defendant's Motion To Reconsider filed on February 13, 2003 was also denied by order dated March 21, 2003.

An Evidentiary Hearing was held in this case on May 12, 13, and 14, 2003. On September 18, 2003, the trial court issued an Order on Defendant's 3.850 pursuant to

the Florida Supreme Court's Remand Order (of September 13, 2000) denying Mr. Happ relief on all claims. The denial of Defendant's motion to release evidence for testing and denial of the 2nd Amended 3.850 Motion are the basis for this appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Happ asserts that his conviction and sentence of death are the result of violations of the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution for each of the reasons set forth below.

- 1. The evidentiary court was wrong in denying the claim regarding counsel's ineffective representation in failing to object to leading questions posed to Vincent Ambrosio who had provided alibi testimony for William Happ twice before trial. Counsel's failure to object to the State's leading questions resulted in the witnesses becoming confused about critical dates and times that previously provided a clear alibi defense to Mr. Happ.
- 2. The evidentiary court was wrong in denying the claim regarding counsel's ineffective representation in failing to call Carlos Quinones to provide alibi testimony. The court erroneously determined that Mr. Quinones' testimony was irrelevant, ignoring a prior order by the trial court deeming his testimony both relevant and material to this case. Although counsel was aware that Mr. Quinones' testimony

established an alibi defense for Mr. Happ during the time of the victim's abduction and murder, and corroborated statements made by a second alibi witness (Ambrosino), counsel did not did not call Mr. Quinones to testify at trial or offer a reasonable explanation for failing to do so. The evidentiary court erred in failing to use the correct standard to analyze counsel's performance.

- 3. The evidentiary court was wrong in denying the claim regarding counsel's ineffective representation in failing to compare a negroid hair found beneath the ligature tied around the victim's neck to a medical examiner's assistant to exclude him as the source, and failing to argue the significance of this negroid hair (Happ is a white defendant) to the jury.
- 4. The evidentiary court erred in denying the claim that counsel was ineffective due to a failure to investigate and present mitigation by providing expert evidence or asking the court to consider evidence in the record in support of non-statutory mitigation based upon Happ's history of drug and alcohol abuse.
- 5. The evidentiary court erred in denying Defendant's postconviction motion to release a pair of pony shoes belonging to the defendant for testing based upon the State's assertions that the issue had been thoroughly litigated.

The defendant claimed that counsel was ineffective for failing to hire a shoe print expert to challenge the State's case and was granted a hearing. The court's

subsequent denial of defendant's motion to release evidence was error, especially in light of the fact that preliminary analysis indicated that it was impossible for William Happ to have made the print due to size difference. The court further compounded the error by failing to allow the shoe print expert to testify at the evidentiary hearing or counsel to proffer this testimony and evidence.

The trial court erred in denying the claim that counsel was ineffective in failing to hire forensic crime, orthopedic or medical experts to challenge the State's theory, that the victim was overcome by an assailant casting one bare fisted blow through her car window, murdered, and then tossed into the waters of the barge canal. At trial, there were no experts retained to challenge any aspects of the State's circumstantial case, and the cumulative effect was no adversarial testing.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

All claims contained in this brief are subject to the <u>Strickland Test</u>, adopted as the standard of review in analyzing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. The United States Supreme Court requires that a defendant show two elements in establishing a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel:

"First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by

the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable."

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, (1984), at 687; Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040,1048 (Fla. 2000); State v. Riechmann, 777 So.2d 342, 349 (Fla. 2000); Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216, 219 (Fla. 1998).

Furthermore, establishment of prejudice is controlled by the following requirement:

"The defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" based on "prevailing norms."

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688.

Under the second prong of the test, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Id.</u> at 694. The Supreme Court defined "reasonable probability" as "a probability sufficient to undermine the confidence of the outcome." <u>Id</u>.

The standard of proof for the trial court and the standard of review for this Court in addressing a claim of ineffectiveness of trial counsel was addressed in Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999), summarized in Bruno v. State, 807 So. 2d 55, 61-62 (Fla. 2001), and cited in Thomas v. State, 838 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 2003):

The test to be applied by the trial court when evaluating an ineffectiveness claim is two-pronged: The defendant must show that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that the defendant was prejudiced by the deficiency. The standard of review for a trial court's ruling on an ineffectiveness claim is also two-pronged: The appellate court must defer to the trial court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo.

Thomas, 838 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 2002) at 539.

When evaluating ineffective assistance of counsel claims on appeal, this Court will evaluate whether the alleged errors undermine our confidence in the outcome of the proceedings. Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567,574 (Fla. 1996). Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present a mixed question of law and fact subject to plenary review based on the Strickland test. Stephens, 748 So. 2d at 1028,1033. This requires an independent review of the trial court's legal conclusions, while giving deference to the trial court's factual findings. Id.

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE CLAIM OF THE RULE 3.850 MOTION REGARDING TRIAL COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVENESS DUE TO FAILURE TO CHALLENGE THE STATE'S CASE VIA OBJECTION, EFFECTIVE CROSS EXAMINATION AND CALLING AN AVAILABLE ALIBI WITNESS IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

A. Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State's leading questions and failing to effectively cross-examine defense alibi witness, Vincent Ambrosino.

The Second Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence and For Evidentiary Hearing dated November 8, 2000 contains the claim -

A. Failure to Object During Trial And Test The State's Case.

The court granted an Evidentiary Hearing as to Paragraphs 49 and 53, 54, 55, 56 in the trial Court's "First Order Setting Evidentiary Hearing on Certain Paragraphs of the Defendant's Second Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence and For Evidentiary Hearing. These claims involved witness Vincent Ambrosino's testimony, and trial counsel's ineffective performance in failing to call alibi witness Carlos Quinones.

A deposition was taken on October 25, 1988 of Mr. Happ's friend, Vincent Ambrosino. In that deposition he testified that Happ had stayed overnight at his house

on the evening of Friday, May 23, 1986 to the morning of Saturday, May 24, 1986. This information was the same as provided to officer Thompson in interview of May 24, 1986, just after the murder. Such testimony was very important because it provided an alibi defense for Mr. Happ and contradicted the State's theory that Happ was abducting and killing the victim in the early morning hours of Saturday, May 24.

Although trial counsel was aware of the favorable facts that Ambrosino had provided, he failed to object to leading questions posed by the State when they called Mr. Ambrosino at trial to change his prior sworn testimony regarding the dates that Happ had stayed over at his house.

The following exchange occurred between the Prosecutor, Mr. King and the witness, Vincent Ambrosino at Mr. Happ's trial:

King: Okay. Because his truck had been taken away, did that cause you

You got off work before he got there; is that right?

Ambrosino: Yes

King: And did you later meet up with him after you had already got off

work on Wednesday?

Ambrosino: Yes, I met up with him around the corner on 44.

King: Okay. That day, **Wednesday**, what did you all do that afternoon?

Ambrosino: Went to the bowling alley, played pool.

King: Okay. And you and Mr. Happ each went your separate ways that

evening?

Ambrosino: Yes.

King: The next day, Thursday, did you see Mr. Happ again on

Thursday?

Ambrosino: Yes.

King: And where did you see him at that day?

Ambrosino: Maybe at my house or at the bowling alley.

King: You don't exactly remember where?

Ambrosino: No, not exactly for sure.

King: Do you remember whether or not that **Thursday** night he actually

spent the night at your mother's house with you?

Ambrosino: Yes. King: He did?

Ambrosino: He spent all night. King: Okay. And that -

This was after you all had met and been wherever you'd been, you don't really remember but you know he spent Thursday night with you.

Ambrosino: Yes

King: As a result of him having spent **Thursday** night with you was there

any friction between you and I think it's your stepfather?

Ambrosino: Yes

King: Or was your stepfather at that time. And what was the friction?

Ambrosino: He had to get up in the morning and I had woke him to ask him if

my friend could stay the night.

King: You woke him up **Thursday** night and asked him if Mr. Happ

could spend the night. He got upset because you woke him up and he was going to have to get up and got to work the next day?

Ambrosino: Yes.

King: The next day would have been Friday and now we're talking about

the 21st, Thursday the 22nd, Friday, the 23rd of May, 1986. (R. 648-

649)

Counsel have been found to be ineffective for failing to impeach key state witnesses with available evidence or for failing to raise objections <u>Vela v. Estelle</u>, 708 F.2d 594, 961-966 (5th Cir. 1983), <u>cert. denied</u>, 464 U.S. 1053 (1984). Although Mr. Ambrosino's deposition and prior statements were that William Happ had stayed over night on Friday and not Thursday, the State posed leading questions as reflected by

the record excerpt above without any objection from defense counsel. No other witnesses testified that Mr. Happ had stayed with Vincent Ambrosino on Thursday rather than Friday. Trial counsel should have objected to the prosecutor's misleading questions that suggested that Thursday was the evening Happ had slept over. This is particularly so, in light of the fact that Carlos Quinones had also given sworn deposition testimony corroborating Ambrosino's statements that Happ stayed overnight on Friday, May 23rd and not on Thursday, May 22nd. Even though Ambrosio conceded that he was confused during cross examination questions posed at trial, Happ's defense counsel never attempted to refresh Ambrosino's recollection of the dates or call Mr. Quinones to corroborate Ambrosino's initial alibi testimony and correct the record. As a result of counsel's deficient performance, the State proceeded to elicit unchallenged testimony from Ambrosino that supported the State's timeline theory of how William Happ could have perpetrated the crime. Counsel's failure to object to the State's direct questions and interjection of facts not in evidence specifically that Happ had stayed over on Thursday rather than Friday was deficient performance. The result was testimony from Ambrosino that provided Happ an opportunity to have committed the crime, and accepted by the jury in reaching a verdict of guilty.

B. Counsel was ineffective for failing to call defense alibi witness Carlos Quinones

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