## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM FREDERICK HAPP,

Case No. SC03-1890

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR CITRUS COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The claim that trial counsel "failed to challenge the state's case" does not supply a basis for relief. The "failure to object" component has been abandoned, and, moreover, is meritless because none of the questions involved were improper. The "alibi witness" component fails because trial counsel testified that there was a reason that witness was not called, but that he could not remember what it was because of the passage of time. Contrary to Happ's position, prejudice is not presumed. Moreover, the evidence was irrelevant, as the trial court found. The trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed.

The "unknown hair" claim is not a basis for relief because trial counsel made an informed decision not to have the hair analyzed. So long as the hair remained unidentified, the defense has an argument available to them. Defense counsel made a strategic decision, and that decision does not support an ineffectiveness of counsel claim.

The claim that counsel were ineffective for "failing" to present Happ's drug abuse history as "mitigation" was properly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The hair likely belonged to the Medical Examiner's assistant, and the defense preferred for the hair not to be matched to that person.

rejected because the testimony at the evidentiary hearing was, in the words of the Court, "unpersuasive." Moreover, trial counsel testified that he did not believe that such testimony would have a favorable impact on the jury, especially since the alleged drug use could not be tied to the murder.

The "full and fair hearing" claim (which relates to a pair of shoes in evidence) is time-barred, and was correctly decided by the trial court.

The "failure to use expert witnesses" claim was rejected by the trial court as "wholly without merit." None of the witnesses were shown to have been available at the time of Happ's trial, and the failure to present these witnesses at trial does not establish either deficient performance or prejudice.

With respect to all of the ineffectiveness claims, Happ cannot establish the prejudice prong of *Strickland* in light of his statement to trial counsel that DNA testing "would not be a good idea."

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. THE "FAILURE TO CHALLENGE THE STATE'S CASE" CLAIM<sup>14</sup>

## A. THE "LEADING QUESTION" COMPONENT

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Happ was represented at trial by two attorneys. However, for reasons unknown to the State, Happ only called his second-chair trial attorney to testify at the evidentiary hearing. That was Happ's decision, and he cannot profit from that attorney's faulty memory of a trial that took place in 1989.

On pages 12-15 of his brief, Happ complains that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to "improper leading questions" asked by the State. While the trial court granted Happ an evidentiary hearing on this claim, no evidence was presented concerning the "failure to object" claim, and Happ did not argue that claim in his written closing argument. (SR1924-2768). Because no evidence was presented concerning this claim, it has been abandoned, and should not be considered in this proceeding. 15

Alternatively, none of the questions set out in Happ's brief are leading, and such an objection would have been overruled. To the extent that Happ argues that counsel was in some way ineffective, the record of Happ's capital trial contains extensive cross-examination on this very issue, and there is no question that the jury was well aware that Ambrosino's trial testimony was different from his testimony in deposition. (R2093-95). Happ's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is nothing more than present counsel's after-the-fact second guessing of trial strategy that is precluded by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). And, to the extent that it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>In his brief, Happ makes much of the court's grant of an evidentiary hearing on this claim. What he does not admit is that he did not avail himself of the opportunity to present evidence when he had the chance.

necessary to further explain counsel's strategy, it is apparent record that counsel chose to highlight inconsistencies Ambrosino's in testimony during crossexamination rather than affording him the opportunity to explain them during direct examination. 16 While present counsel might have handled the examination of the witness differently, that is not the standard by which ineffectiveness claims are decided. Waters v. Thomas, supra. In addition to having been abandoned, this claim has no merit.

Finally, in light of Happ's statement to trial counsel that DNA testing "would not be a good idea," Happ cannot establish the prejudice prong of *Strickland*, as he must in order to prevail on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. This claim is not a basis for relief.

## B. - C. THE "ALIBI WITNESS" COMPONENT

On pages 16-34 of his brief, Happ argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call "alibi witness Carlos Quinones." During the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that he was well aware of Quinones' deposition testimony, and that he would have been called **if his testimony** 

 $<sup>^{16}{\</sup>rm Happ's}$  claim, on page 15 of his brief, that the State presented "unchallenged testimony from Ambrosino" is simply incorrect.

had been as positive at trial as his deposition. (R732). Counsel testified that there was a reason for not calling Quinones, but that he could not remember what it was. Because counsel's performance is presumed reasonable, the fact that counsel does not remember the reason for a decision made during the course of a lengthy trial does not establish deficient performance on the part of counsel. *Gudinas*, *supra*; *Downs* v. *State*, 453 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 1984).<sup>17</sup>

Moreover, as the trial court found in denying relief on this claim, Quinones' testimony was irrelevant. (R43). Despite Happ's protestations, the testimony was that Quinones had absolutely no idea what Happ did between the time that Happ arrived at Quinones' home at 11:00 P.M. and when Quinones next saw him at 6:00 A.M. the following morning. (R552). Miss Crawley was abducted, sexually battered, and strangled during the early morning hours of May 24, 1986, and, assuming for the sake of argument that Happ stayed at Quinones' home on May 23, 1986, and left the following morning, that does not supply Happ with an alibi because the time of the murder is wholly unaccounted for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Happ argues that he wins on this claim because trial counsel did not remember the reason that Quinones was not called to testify. That position flies in the face of the presumption of competency established by *Strickland*, and is wholly inconsistent with long-settled law. A faulty memory of 14-year-old events does not give the defendant a windfall.

in Quinones's testimony. Because Happ's whereabouts are unaccounted for at the time of the murder, the testimony is irrelevant to the issue of guilt. The trial court correctly denied relief.

To the extent that Happ argues that the fact that Quinones was brought to Florida as a material witness by the State establishes that his testimony was "relevant," he has cited no authority for that proposition. Relevancy is established at the time of the testimony, not when a witness is determined to be "material" for purpose of compelling their appearance from another state. Likewise, to the extent that Happ argues that the trial court's order is an insufficient "summary denial" of relief, that claim has no legal basis. The court did not summarily deny relief on this claim, and the suggestion that the rules applicable to a summary denial were not followed is spurious.

One of Happ's trial attorneys testified that he had no specific memory of why Quinones was not called to testify beyond stating that there was in fact a specific reason. Happ did not call his other trial attorney (who was lead counsel) in an effort to prove his case. The state of the record is that there is no basis upon which counsel can be deemed ineffective, and,

because that is so, there is no basis for relief. As the Eleventh Circuit has held:

performance to be deficient, it must established that, in light of all the circumstances, counsel's performance was outside the wide range of professional competence. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. In other words, when reviewing counsel's decisions, "the issue is not what possible or 'what is prudent or appropriate, but only what is constitutionally compelled.'" Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305, 1313 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc) (quoting Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776, 107 S.Ct. 3114, 3126, 97 L.Ed.2d 638 (1987)), cert. denied 531 U.S. 1204, 121 S.Ct. 1217, 149 L.Ed.2d 129 (2001). Furthermore, "[t]he burden of persuasion is on a petitioner to prove, by a preponderance of competence evidence, that counsel's performance unreasonable." Id. (citing Strickland, 104 S.Ct. at though This burden of persuasion, insurmountable, is a heavy one. See id. at 1314 (citing Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 106 S.Ct. 2574, 2586, 91 L.Ed.2d 305 (1986)).

"'Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential, '" and courts "must second-guessing counsel's performance." Id. at 1314 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065). "Courts must 'indulge [the] strong presumption' that counsel's performance was reasonable and that counsel 'made all significant decisions exercise of reasonable professional judgment.'" Id. (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689-90, 104 S.Ct. at 2065-66). Therefore, "counsel cannot be adjudged incompetent for performing in a particular way in a case, as long as the approach taken 'might be considered sound trial strategy.'" Id. (quoting Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 106 S.Ct. L.Ed.2d 144 (1986)).

If the record is incomplete or unclear about counsel's actions, then it is presumed that counsel exercised reasonable professional judgment. See id. at 1314-15 n. 15. Thus, the presumption afforded counsel's

performance "is not ... that the particular defense lawyer in reality focused on and, then, deliberately decided to do or not to do a specific act." *Id*. Rather, the presumption is "that what the particular defense lawyer did at trial - for example, what witnesses he presented or did not present - were acts that some reasonable lawyer might do." *Id*. (emphasis added).

Moreover, "[t]he reasonableness of a counsel's performance is an objective inquiry." Id. at 1315. For a petitioner to show deficient performance, he "must establish that no competent counsel would have taken the action that his counsel did take." Id. To uphold a lawyer's strategy, a court "need not attempt to divine the lawyer's mental processes underlying the strategy." Id. at 1315 n. 16.

Putman v. Head, 268 F.3d 1223, 1243 (11th Cir. 2001). The trial court properly concluded that counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for not calling an irrelevant witness, and that finding should not be disturbed.

Finally, given that Happ admitted his guilt when he told trial counsel that DNA testing would "not be a good idea," Happ cannot satisfy the prejudice prong of *Strickland*, either. This claim was properly decided by the trial court, and that decision should be affirmed in all respects.

## II. THE "UNKNOWN HAIR" CLAIM

On pages 34-38 of his brief, Happ argues that trial counsel was ineffective for not "investigating" the origin of "an unknown Negroid hair sample" found in the ligature around the victim's neck. The collateral proceeding trial court rejected

this claim, finding that Happ had failed to establish either deficient performance or prejudice.

In finding that trial counsel were not ineffective, the trial court held:

Appellant/Defendant Happ has failed to produce any evidence with respect to his claim that Trial Counsel was at all deficient or ineffective in his allegations of failure to investigate an unknown hair sample. To the contrary, the Defendant's Trial Counsel, Mark Nacke, testified that he and lead counsel, Pfister were aware of the "unknown hair" and that it was most likely caused by transference from employee at the medical examiner's office. As part of their trial strategy, Defense Counsel chose not to have the "unknown hair" tested in that its likely origin was the medical examiner's assistant and not an unidentified assailant. Quoting unknown, counsel, Mr. Nacke, "It is my recollection that we arqued strenuously that that's definite evidence that it was somebody else, that how could the hair have gotten there but for being there at the time the crime was committed." [citation omitted].

Further, the trial lawyers were searching for any African American with which to make a comparison and had none, except for the assistant at the medical examiner's office. [citation omitted]. While the defense argued the alleged unknown hair sample, the State rebutted with (2) theories at trial: 1) Expert testimony relating to transference as if the hair had gotten on her sweat pants at a public restroom; or 2) the hair was transferred via a used sponge at the medical examiner's office. [citation omitted].

Clearly, to this Court, the claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate the origin of an unknown hair found on the victim is wholly unsupported. Everything in the record supports their diligence in investigating this issue.

In further support thereof, is the defense's own witness, Nicholas Petraco, who stated there were no

# Negroid or African American hairs found in the sweepings of the victim's car.

(R37). Competent substantial evidence supports the findings of the trial court, and there is no basis for relief based upon this claim.

To the extent that further discussion of this issue is necessary, the defense made a strategic decision not to have the unknown hair compared to the individual at the medical examiner's office. Such an informed strategic decision does not support an ineffectiveness claim. Gudinas, supra; Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996). Given that that person was the only African American known for hair comparison purposes, and given that he clearly was not and had never been a suspect, the last thing the defense wanted to do was prove that the unknown hair was in no way connected to Miss Crawley's killer. If the hair remained unknown, the defense had something to argue to the jury — however, if the hair was matched to the medical examiner's assistant, the defense had nothing at all. Trial counsel's strategic decisions were neither deficient nor prejudicial, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>In light of the hearing testimony that **no** Negroid hairs were found in the sweepings from the victim's car, there is nothing to have been gained by having the hair examined, anyway.

the trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects. 19

#### III. THE "PRESENTATION OF MITIGATION" CLAIM

On pages 38-41 of his brief, Happ argues that trial counsel were ineffective for not presenting Happ's drug abuse history as mitigation. The collateral proceeding trial court found that counsel were not ineffective for not presenting such testimony.

In resolving this issue against Happ, the trial court stated:

Appellant called Alexander Martin who was qualified as an expert within the field of psychopharmacology and addictions and the general effects of drugs on the human brain. [citation omitted]. Happ self-reported significant poli-substance usage during Martin's first interview on March 21, 2000. [citation omitted].

This witnesses' testimony is totally unpersuasive because he does not make a diagnosis. [citation omitted]. There was no independent corroboration of Happ's self-reported cocaine usage. [citation omitted]. This witness did not ask Happ what drugs he was using May 23, 1986, the date of the murder. [citation omitted]. Nor did he ask him if he [Happ] was under the influence of cocaine and cocaine psychosis when he murdered Angela Crowly. [citation omitted].

(R39). The collateral proceeding trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.

 $<sup>^{19}\</sup>mathrm{As}$  with the other issues, Happ's statement that DNA testing "would not be a good idea" makes it impossible for him to establish the prejudice prong of <code>Strickland</code>.

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